
 

 

OAK CREEK BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
JANUARY 23, 2025 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
AGENDA  
6:00 P.M. 

January 17, 2025 
STATE OF COLORADO 
COUNTY OF ROUTT 
 
To the Board of Trustees of the Town of Oak Creek and to all Other Persons to whom it may concern: 
Notice is hereby given that a Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees, Town of Oak Creek, Routt County, Colorado, will be held on Thursday, January 
23, 2025 beginning at 6:00 p.m. in the Hearing Room, Town of Oak Creek Offices, 129 Nancy Crawford Blvd., Oak Creek, Colorado. The Board of 
Trustees will be attending either in person or via web based meeting through Zoom (zoom.us). Agenda is subject to change up to 24 hours before 
scheduled hearings. 

Join Zoom Meeting  

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81449378638  
Meeting ID: 814 4937 8638 

One tap mobile (for call in meeting): +1-669-900-6833 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER (5 Minutes): 
A. Roll Call 
B. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
2. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION (5 Minutes): 

(This section of the agenda is set aside for questions or comments by the public, regarding issues other than agenda items.  Please limit 
comments to three minutes.  The Board of Trustees will take comments under consideration but will not make any decision or take any action 
at this time.  Anyone who would like to address the Board of Trustees concerning any agenda item will be given the opportunity to speak for 
three minutes at the scheduled time for that item.) 

3. CONSENT AGENDA (5 Minutes): 
A. Approval of January 9, 2025 Regular Meeting Minutes 

B. Approval of Public Works Director amended job description 

4. ROUTT COUNTY SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT (5 Minutes) 

A. Consideration of approval of Reimbursement Agreement by and between the Town of Oak Creek and the Routt County 
Sheriff’s Department for the term through December 31, 2025 

B. Consideration for approval and authorization to sign an Intergovernmental Agreement for the Provision of Short-Term 
Basic Law Enforcement Services by and between the Town of Oak Creek and Routt County for the term through 
December 31, 2025 

5. SELECTION OF PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES FIRMS (15 Minutes) 

A. Review and approval of Selection Committee recommendation that AquaWorks DBO, Inc. be approved to complete the 

final design and construction oversight services for the next phase or phases of the Town’s water distribution system and 

associated improvements and other water and wastewater systems work on an as-needed basis. 

B. Approval and authorization to sign a Professional Services Agreement by and between AquaWorks DBO Inc. and the 

Town of Oak Creek for final design and construction oversight services for the next phase or phases of the Town’s water 

distribution system and associated improvements 

C. Review and approval of Selection Committee recommendation that Zenobia Consultants be designated as Town 

Engineer.  

D. Approval and authorization to sign a Professional Services Agreement by and between Zenobia Consultants and the 

Town of Oak Creek for the performance of Town engineering services 

6. WAIVER OF FORMAL BID PROCESS AND AWARD OF BID – SEWER CAMERA EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT (10 
Minutes) 

Consideration for approval of a waiver of the formal bid process as a sole source provider and award of bid to CUES, Inc. for 
Sewer Camera Equipment Replacement in the amount of $161,862 

7. FLOODPLAIN STUDY – FOUR POINTS SURVEYING ENGINEERING (10 Minutes) 

A. Review and approval of proposal from Four Points Surveying Engineering to complete a Floodplain Study and Letter of 

Map Revision Permit for Zone A Floodplain areas located in the northeast portion of the Town of Oak Creek  

B. Approval and authorization to sign a Professional Services Agreement by and between Four Points Surveying 

Engineering and the Town of Oak Creek for the complete a Floodplain Study and Letter of Map Revision Permit for Zone 

A Floodplain areas located in the northeast portion of the Town of Oak Creek in an amount not-to-exceed $15,000 

8. CLIMATE ACTION PLAN COLLABORATIVE BOARD MEMBER APPOINTMENTS (5 Minutes) 

Consideration and approval of the appointment of Sarah Jones and Tim Wohlgenant to the Routt County Climate Action 

Plan Collaborative Board effective January 1, 2025  

9. EXTENSION OF TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE APPOINTMENT – INTERIM TOWN ADMINISTRATOR/CLERK (10 
Minutes)  

Consideration for approval of a waiver of the 180 day limit of Section 4.6 of the Town’s Personnel Policies and Procedures 
Handbook and a 90-day extension of the temporary employee appointment for the Interim Town Administrator/Clerk 

10. OAK CREEK COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – PROJECT KICK OFF WORK SESSION (60 Minutes) 

Oak Creek Comprehensive Plan Project Kick Off work session with Consultant Teams, Board members, Planning 
Commissioners and members of the public 

11. STAFF & BOARD MEMBER REPORTS (10 Minutes) 

12. ADJOURNMENT 

Notice: Three or more members of the Town Board may be meeting informally at Franciosi Brothers or The Oak Creek Tavern 

following the regularly scheduled Board Meeting. Members of the public are welcomed. 
 
Please Note:  All programs, services and activities of the Town of Oak Creek are operated in compliance with the Americans with 

Disabilities Act. If you need a special accommodation as a result of a disability, please call our office at (970) 736-2422 or TDD access 
through RelayColorado by dialing 7-1-1 to coordinate your needs. Please notify us of your request as soon as possible to allow us time 
to meet your request. This institution is an equal opportunity provider and employer.   

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81449378638


COMMUNICATION FORM

 --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- -- ---  --- --- --- -

DATE: November 14, 2024

ITEM: Consent Agenda

ATTACHED: January 9, 2025 Regular Meeting Minutes

Public Works Director Job Description

--- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- ----- --- --- --- --- --- ----- --- -

BOARD ACTION: _X_ ACTION ITEM

____ DIRECTION REQUESTED

____ INFORMATION

--- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- ------ --- --- -- ---  ---

REQUEST OR ISSUE:   The Consent Agenda is used for the approval of routine agenda items, or items that have 

been reviewed at previous board meetings.  The following items have been identified as routine and placed on 

the Consent Agenda: 

A. Approval of January 9, 2025 Regular Meeting Minutes

B. Approval of Public Works Director amended job description

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  That the Board approves the Consent Agenda as presented. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: The Board has established a process to streamline certain types of items to allow 

sufficient time for discussion of topics or issues.  Items that are routine or have been reviewed at previous board 

meetings can be placed on a consent agenda and approved with a single motion. Board members can request the 

removal of an item or items from the consent agenda for further discussion.

FISCAL IMPACTS:  As identified in accompanying materials.  

LEGAL ISSUES:  Approval of these items will comply with the legal requirements for the same.

 

CONFLICTS OR ISSUES:  None known.

SUMMARY AND ALTERNATIVES:  See above. 



January 9, 2025

Town of Oak Creek Regular Board Minutes – Draft 

Page 1 of 3

TOWN OF OAK CREEK

TOWN BOARD MEETING

JANUARY 9, 2025

MINUTES

CALL TO ORDER:

Mayor Pro Tem Gagne called the regular meeting of the Oak Creek Board of Trustees to 
order at 6:00 p.m., Thursday, January 9, 2025.  

Town Officials present at roll call were: Trustees: Sascha Stanger, Julie D. Gregory, and 
Chris Hedberg.  Trustee McElfish joined the meeting at 6:05 p.m. Mayor Melissa Dobbins and 
Trustee Erika Pastor were excused.

Others present:  Mary Alice Page-Allen, Interim Town Administrator/Clerk; Alissa Hill, 
Oak Creek Parks & Recreation; Tom Holliday, Oak Creek Public Works Director; Elena Scott 
and Kate Berg, Norris Design, participated via Zoom. 

Those present recited the Pledge of Allegiance.  

AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION:   

None

EN RE: THE CONSENT AGENDA  

Mayor Pro Tem Gagne asked that Item E, Public Works Director amended job 
description be removed from the Consent Agenda and rescheduled to January 23, 2025.

Trustee Stanger made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda Items A through D, 
specifically the approval of December 12, 2024 Regular Meeting Minutes; the December 13, 
2024 Special Meeting Minutes; the January 2, 2025 Special Meeting Minutes; and the accounts 
payable, manual warrants and payroll for December, 2024.  Trustee Gregory seconded the 
motion; passed unanimously. 

EN RE: RESOLUTION 2025-001 SUNSHINE RESOLUTION

MOTION

Trustee Gregory made a motion to approve Resolution 2025-001, a Resolution 

Designating the Place for Posting of Notices of Meetings of the Oak Creek Town Board in 

Accordance with C.R.S. § 24-6-402.  Trustee Hedberg seconded the motion; passed 

unanimously.

EN RE:  OAK CREEK COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – AGREEMENTS FOR 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

Elena Scott and Kate Berg, Norris Design, noted that the team is very excited to get 

started and provided an outline of the upcoming Oak Creek Comprehensive Plan Project Kick-

Off meeting.  



January 9, 2025

Town of Oak Creek Regular Board Minutes – Draft 

Page 2 of 3

MOTION

Trustee Hedberg moved to approval and authorize the signing of an Agreement for 

Professional Services between the Town of Oak Creek and Norris Design on the Town of Oak 

Creek Comprehensive Plan in an amount not to exceed $155,000.  Trustee McElfish seconded 

the motion; motion passed unanimously.

MOTION

Trustee Hedberg moved to approval and authorize the signing of an Agreement for 

Professional Services between the Town of Oak Creek and Ricker Cunningham on the Town of 

Oak Creek Comprehensive Plan in an amount not to exceed $45,000.  Trustee McElfish 

seconded the motion; motion passed unanimously.

EN RE:  HOUSING INNOVATION MANAGER - JOB DESCRIPTION

Mary Alice stated that the description included in the packet was also circulated to 

individuals and entities that have participated in the South Routt Housing Needs Assessment 

process, and she received some comprehensive feedback from David Park, Chairman, Oak 

Creek Fire Protection District, that has been handed out to Board members.  She added that no 

other comments were received, however Mr. Park’s comments provided an opportunity to 

provide answers that are generally being asked.  She also noted that the job description should 

include information that the position is time-limited.

Mayor Pro Tem Gagne asked a questions related to the creation of the South Routt 

Regional Housing Authority, that this position is tasked with developing along with managing 

potential Town projects for both Oak Creek and Yampa, and asked for assurances that there 

would be involvement from a broad range of agencies and the community.  Mary Alice noted 

that the job duties outlined will require such.  She also outlined the funding participation from not 

only the State of Colorado, Department of Local Affairs (DOLA), but from Routt Board of County 

Commissioners and the Town of Yampa.  She also referred to the presentation made to the 

County Commissioners when funding was being requested, noting that there was a broad 

discussion about the benefits of having someone in South Routt to shepherd housing projects 

and impacts. In response to a question from Mayor Pro Tem Gagne, Mary Alice noted that the 

job announcement will be broadly circulated and that an Interview Committee will be developed 

that represents the varied South Routt entities concerned with affordable and attainable housing 

that will make a recommendation to the Oak Creek Town Board on the position hiring as the 

Oak Creek is the designated employer pursuant to the terms of the DOLA contract for funding.

MOTION

Trustee McElfish made a motion to approve the Housing Innovation Manager job 

description.  Trustee Hedberg seconded the motion; the motion passed unanimously.



January 9, 2025

Town of Oak Creek Regular Board Minutes – Draft 

Page 3 of 3

EN RE:  STAFF & BOARD MEMBER REPORTS

Alissa outlined the success of Shop Local and current youth and adult recreation 

programs and offerings.  

Tom provided an update on the ice rink improvements including the curtains and LED 

lighting.  He asked for the Board’s assistance in getting the word out about moving vehicles 

within 24 hours of a snow event to facilitate plowing.  He added that he is waiting for sufficient 

snowfall to allow for grooming of Rossi Meadow.

Mary Alice asked for assistance in interviews of engineering firms scheduled for 

Tuesday and Wednesday, January 14th and 15th. She asked for support to apply for funding to 

support another round of the Business Improvement Grant (BIG) program, noting that the Town 

budgeted $14,500 in 2025 for such, that she is proposing a $72,500 request, and a match from 

participates equivalent to $14,500.  Mary Alice noted that one of the water system compliance 

matters that needs follow-up is the lead and copper assessment and survey, and they are 

proceeding to get this completed.  Tom added that he isn’t concerned that the Town has lead 

service lines, but we need to do the assessment and survey to prove it.  

Trustee Gregory asked if the plan was to work on the police department after the Town 

Administrator was hired.  Board members replied that was the plan.

Trustee McElfish asked about putting a ½ cent sales tax question on an upcoming ballot.  

Mary Alice suggested that this conversation be continued during the Comprehensive Plan 

process.  Mayor Pro Tem Gagne added that he has spoken a number of times that additional 

revenues are needed to do the things that the community has identified as needed. There was 

discussion regarding various options including business support opportunities.

EN RE: ADJOURNMENT

Trustee McElfish made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  Trustee Gregory seconded the 

motion.  Motion passed unanimously.

No further business coming before the Board, same adjourned sine die at 7:07 p.m.

Attest:

_______________________ ___________________________________
Mary Alice Page-Allen Melissa Dobbins, Mayor
Interim Town Administrator/Clerk Date: _______________, 2025



TOWN OF OAK CREEK 

 

POSITION TITLE: Public Works Director 

 

DEPARTMENT: Public Works 

 

REPORTS TO: Town Administrator/Clerk FLSA STATUS:  TBDExempt 

 

SUPERVISORY RESPONSIBILITIES:   Oversees all Public Works Department 

employees 

 

DATE APPROVED:  May 24, 2012January 9, 2025 

 

 

SUMMARY OF POSITION:  Responsible for supervising the maintenance, repair and 

operations of the Town streets, parks, distribution and collection systems and related 

public works programs.  Coordinates departmental activities in several areas and 

supervises subordinate personnel.  Strong management, communication, organizational 

and public relations skills are required. 

 

ESSENTIAL DUTIES 

The following statements are illustrative of the essential functions of the job and do not 

include other nonessential or peripheral duties that may be required.  The Town of Oak 

Creek retains the right to modify or change the essential and additional functions of the 

job at any time. 

 

 Responsible for supervision of daily street maintenance operations including 

street maintenance, snow and ice removal, traffic signage and street cleaning, 

providing work assignments to Public Works maintenance workers. 

 Supervise park maintenance activities including maintenance of parks and 

various publicly owned rights-of-way and properties. 

 Responsible for the supervision, maintenance and operation of the electric, 

water and sewer distribution and collection systems.  Supervise and 

coordinate the emergency repairs of these systems as needed, often on an on-

call basis.  Performs and coordinates, but not limited to, non-routine 

distribution activities such as shut-offs, isolation of line segments, hydrant 

flushing, repairs and meter reading, transformers, pole replacement, running 

of generator. 

 Coordinates projects and equipment use; establishes priorities within 

operational areas; plans and schedules work assignments, coordinating with 

department personnel.   

 Establishes departmental goals, policies, procedures and overall work 

priorities to accomplish Town goals and objectives and assignments. 

 Prepares annual departmental budgets; approves all departmental purchases 

and capital equipment planning and purchasing in coordination with Town 

Administrator/Clerk and Town Treasurer. 



 Works with various administrative staff in review of subdivision 

developments. 

 Provides support and staff assistance to variety of special events including 

Labor Day Weekend. and Taste of South Routt.   

 Performs limited engineering functions for the Town, as necessary. 

 Prepares and delivers reports to Town Administrator/Clerk and Board of 

Trustees on work programs and projects.  Attends Board meetings when 

required. 

 Responds to citizen needs for public works services and develops pro-active 

programs and responses to provide a high degree of high quality public works 

services to citizens. 

 Delegates, supervises, schedules and completes all works orders generated by 

administrative staff.  All works orders must be completed in a timely and 

satisfactory manner. 

 Adheres to all Town safety and loss/control guidelines. 

 

ADDITIONAL DUTIES 

 Other duties as assigned. 

 

REPORTING RELATIONSHIPS 

General direction is provided by the Town Administrator/Clerk.  Will supervise all Public 

Works employees. 

 

KNOWLEDGE, SKILLS, ABILITIES 

Three (3) to five (5) years’ experience in public works, street maintenance and 

construction is required.  Extensive experience in supervisory positions, including a 

broad range of administrative responsibilities and management of large public works 

budgets.  Familiarity with the operation of a seasonal surface water irrigation system with 

multiple headwater sources, storage reservoirs and pumping stations.  Familiarity with 

the maintenance and repairs of electric system, water distribution and wastewater 

collection systems.     

 

EDUCATION 

A high school diploma is required.  A technical or college degree in related area of study 

is highly desirable.     

 

TECHNICAL SKILLS 

A thorough knowledge of street construction and maintenance practices are required.  

This employee should possess strong communication, supervisory and public relation 

skills.  An understanding of public management techniques is necessary and advanced 

skills in organizational development, oral or written communications and budgeting are 

required.  Knowledge of electricity, water/wastewater/irrigation pipe installation, 

connection and repair is desired.  Employee should have computer skills including word 

processing and spreadsheet analysis.  Must possess a valid Colorado Driver’s License and 

a minimum Class B CDL.    

 



PROBLEM SOLVING AND DECISION MAKING  

Employee encounters problems with providing service to the public and must react 

successfully to public complaints.  Issues with streets, parks and related operations must 

be analyzed and clear concise solutions must be presented to the Town Board of Trustees.  

Employee must be able to solve personnel problems.  Employee also must make 

decisions resolving engineering problems within operations and must prioritize daily 

work assignments to work crew.   

 

SUPERVISION AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

This employee works independently under the supervision of the Town Board.  

Employee exercises daily supervision over departmental employees.  Employee is 

accountable for budgetary responsibility for department budgets and reports to Town 

Board of Trustees for essential public works services.   

 

PERSONAL RELATIONS 

Employee has frequent contact with Town Board of Trustees and other department 

supervisors.  Employee is responsible for major public services, and must have frequent 

contact with general public. 

 

DESCRIPTION OF WORK SCHEDULE, HOURS, OVERTIME 

REQUIREMENTSWORK HOURS 

40 hours per week.  Some overtime may be required to fulfill the obligations of this 

position.The position is full-time that often requires flexible hours to fulfill the job’s 

obligations and may include evening, weekend, emergency and seasonal work 

commitments.  Must be able to attend various meetings including Board of Trustee 

meetings if requested, and any required special meetings.   

 

WORK ENVIRONMENT / PHYSICAL REQUIREMENTS 

This position can involve having to work outdoors in wet and cold (sub-zero) weather for 

periods normally up to 4 hours at a time, but occasionally for 8 or more hours in 

emergency situations.  Work involves exposure to noise, dust, and hazardous conditions. 

 

Employee must be able to work with and around typical shop chemicals and petroleum 

based products as well as other chemicals.  The employee also experiences conditions 

and hazards associated with electricity, water/wastewater/irrigation operations such as 

weather/temperature changes, working below ground level, and fumes, gases and odors 

associated with this environment.   

 

Physical demands may require the employee to remain seated for 2 to 4 hours and 

sometimes unrelieved for periods of up to and sometimes exceeding 8 hours.  The 

employee may also have to handle basic maintenance of equipment.   Employee must 

have correctable vision and adequate hearing sufficient for the safe operation of 

equipment on public roadways during adverse conditions.   

 

Physical tasks may involve shoveling (asphalt, sand, soil, etc.) for several hours with 

intermittent breaks, lifting and carrying loads up to 75 lbs., walking, standing, bending, 



stooping, sweeping, climbing ladders, and climbing down and working in trenches.  At 

times this work can be very strenuous and physically demanding.   

 

SCOPE OF INTERPERSONAL CONTACTS 

Contacts are with other Town employees, the Board of Trustees and the general public.    

 

The incumbent must also demonstrate the following personal attributes: 

 maintain standards of conduct 

 be respectful to coworkers and citizens while performing duties 

 possess cultural awareness and sensitivity 

 demonstrate a dedication to the position and the community 

 demonstrate sound work ethics 

 be consistent and fair to coworkers and citizens 



COMMUNICATION FORM

 --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- -- --- --- --- -- ---  

DATE: January 23, 2025

ITEM: Routt County Sheriff’s Department – Agreements for the Provision of Services

ATTACHED: Reimbursement Agreement

Intergovernmental Agreement

--- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- ----- --- --- --- ----- --- --- --- --- ---

BOARD ACTION: _X_ ACTION ITEM

____ DIRECTION REQUESTED

____ INFORMATION

--- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- ----- --- --- --- --- ---

REQUEST OR ISSUE 

A. Consideration of approval of Reimbursement Agreement by and between the Town of Oak Creek and the 

Routt County Sheriff’s Department for the term through December 31, 2025

B. Consideration for approval and authorization to sign an Intergovernmental Agreement for the Provision of 

Short-Term Basic Law Enforcement Services by and between the Town of Oak Creek and Routt County for 

the term through December 31, 2025

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  That the Board approves 

A. The Reimbursement Agreement by and between the Town of Oak Creek and the Routt County Sheriff’s 

Department for the term through December 31, 2025

B. The Intergovernmental Agreement for the Provision of Short-Term Basic Law Enforcement Services by and 

between the Town of Oak Creek and Routt County for the term through December 31, 2025

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  The Routt County Sheriff’s office is providing various law enforcement services 

for the Town until positions in the Police Department can be filled.  These two agreements are renewals of agreements 

that expired on December 31, 2024.  

FISCAL IMPACTS:  Varies with the levels of service, but are expenses are within budgeted amounts. 

LEGAL ISSUES:  Approval of these agreements are necessary to have a contractual understanding of the Town and 

Sheriff’s agreement on the provision of services.

 

CONFLICTS OR ISSUES:  None known.  

SUMMARY AND ALTERNATIVES:  Approval of the agreements will assure the continuation of needed services.  



1

REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT

This Reimbursement Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into by and between 
the Town Of Oak Creek, a Colorado home rule municipal corporation, (“Town”) and the Routt 
County Sheriff’s Department (“Sheriff”) (collectively “Parties”) effective this 7th day of 
January, 2025.

WHEREAS, the Town is experiencing a temporary shortage of sworn police officers 
available for patrols within the Town’s corporate limits during certain patrol hours; and

WHEREAS, the Town’s Police Department and the Sheriff both have jurisdiction to 
enforce the law within the corporate limits of the Town of Hayden and often coordinate to 
provide such services; and 

WHEREAS, the Sheriff is willing and able to assign Sheriff’s deputies and sergeants to 
patrol within the Town of Hayden corporate limits during certain patrol hours; and 

WHEREAS, the Town desires to reimburse the Sheriff for the extra patrol costs incurred 
by the Sheriff in patrolling within Town limits.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the following covenants and promises, the Parties 
agree as follows:

1. Reimbursement of Sheriff Cost.  Town agrees to reimburse the Sheriff for the cost of 
extra patrol hours and mileage.  The Parties agree that Deputy patrol coverage shall be 
reimbursed at a rate of $93.00 per hour, and Sergeant coverage at a rate of $122.00 per 
hour.  The Town shall not be responsible for any insurance, worker’s compensation, or 
other compensation to Sheriff’s officers.

The Town shall also reimburse reported mileage from Deputy and Sergeant patrol 
coverage at a rate of $1.23 per mile. 

Sheriff shall submit to the Town’s Finance Department monthly invoices no later than the 
15th of each month for reimbursement of the previous month’s extra patrols.  Invoices 
shall document Deputy or Sergeant hours and mileage logs. Town shall remit 
reimbursement to the Routt County Sheriff’s Office no later than 10 days after receipt of 
invoice.

2. Representatives and Coordination.  The Town designates Town Manager Mary Alice 
Page-Allen or her designee as the responsible Town staff member to communicate and 
coordinate with the Sheriff for extra patrol coverage office.  The Sheriff designates 
Undersheriff Josh Carrell as its representative to communicate and coordinate extra patrol 
coverage.  

The Parties agree that the Sheriff is under no obligation to provide extra patrol services, 
but shall endeavor to do so as its resources are available in the Sheriff’s sole discretion.  



2

Likewise, the Town is under no obligation by the terms of this Agreement to request 
additional patrol coverage in the Town’s corporate limits, but if it does request and the 
Sheriff is able to provide such patrols, it agrees to reimburse the Sheriff for its costs.

3. Term and Termination.  This agreement shall commence upon execution and shall 
continue until December 31st, 2025.  Either party may terminate this Agreement upon 
seven (7) days’ prior written notice to the other party.  The Town shall only be 
responsible for the payment of reimbursements to the date of termination.  

4. Command and Liability.  The Parties agree that during all times the Sheriff is providing 
additional patrols within the Town under this reimbursement agreement, such Sheriff’s 
officers shall be on regular duty on behalf of the Sheriff, such officers shall be under the 
command of the Sheriff, and such officers shall follow the Sheriff’s policies and 
procedures.

Accordingly, any liability that accrues under the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act 
while performing additional patrols under this Reimbursement Agreement shall be 
allocated to the Sheriff.  The Parties expressly further agree that the provisions of C.R.S. 
§ 29-5-108 do not apply to this Reimbursement Agreement, since Sheriff’s officers are 
not being assigned to the Town and are not under the command or control of the Town.

5. No Waiver of Governmental Immunity.  The Parties hereto understand and agree that the 
Town and the Sheriff are relying on, and does not waive or intend to waive by any 
provision of this Reimbursement Agreement, the monetary limitations and any other 
rights, immunities, and protections provided by the Colorado Governmental Immunity 
Act, Section 24-10-101 et seq., C.R.S., as from time to time amended, or any other law or 
limitation of liability otherwise available to the Town, its officers, or its employees, and 
the Sheriff, its officers, or its employees.

6.  Relationship of the Parties. The Parties to this Agreement are not and shall not be 
construed to be partners, contractors for services, joint venturers or agents of one another 
with respect to any activities associated with this Agreement.  No agent, employee, or 
officer of the Sheriff shall be deemed to be an agent, employee, or officer of the Town.

7.  Notice.   Any notice or other communication required or permitted to be given to any 
party hereunder shall be deemed received when personally delivered, or the next business 
day following deposit with a nationally recognized overnight courier, or three (3) 
calendar days following deposit into the U.S. Mail, postage prepaid, marked certified or 
registered mail, addressed as follows:

TO TOWN: Town of Oak Creek Colorado 
Attention: Town Administrator
P.O. Box 128
Oak Creek, CO 80467



3

WITH A COPY TO: Town of Oak Creek 
Attention:  Town Attorney
P.O. Box 128
Oak Creek, CO 80467

TO SHERIFF:   Routt County Sheriff
2027 Shield Drive
Steamboat Springs, CO 80487

Either party may change its address for receiving or giving notice and other 
communications hereunder, by giving written notice designating a new address to the 
other party.

8.  Venue and Choice of Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Colorado.  The parties agree that venue in any action to enforce or interpret this 
Reimbursement Agreement shall be in the Routt County District Court.

9.  Miscellaneous.  This Agreement constitutes the entire, integrated agreement of the 
parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes any and all prior 
understandings, correspondence, negotiations, and agreements of the parties with respect 
to the subject matter hereof.  No provision of this Agreement may be amended, waived or 
otherwise modified without the prior written consent of all of the applicable parties 
hereto. Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to confer upon any 
other person any rights, remedies, obligations, or liabilities.  Any provision of this 
Agreement which is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be prohibited or 
unenforceable shall be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability, 
without invalidating or rendering unenforceable the remaining provisions of this 
Agreement. The parties will cooperate to replace the invalid or unenforceable provision 
with a provision which as nearly as legally possible gives effect to the intent of the parties 
as expressed herein. 

[Signatures on Next Page]



4

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.

Town of Oak Creek

________________________________
Melissa Dobbins, Mayor

Attest:

_______________________________
Mary Alice Page-Allen
Town Administrator/Clerk

ROUTT COUNTY SHERIFF

________________________________
By:
Its:



INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT
FOR THE PROVISION OF SHORT TERM BASIC LAW ENFORCEMENT SERVICES

This Intergovernmental Agreement for the Provision of Short Term Basic Law Enforcement 
Services (the "Agreement") dated as of January 7, 2025, is between and among the Town of Oak 
Creek ("Town"), a statutory municipality located within Routt County, Colorado, the Routt County 
Sheriff ("Sheriff") and Routt County, Colorado ("County") by and through its Board of County 
Commissioners.

Recitals

A. The parties are authorized to enter into this Agreement pursuant to Section 18(2)(a) 
of Article XIV of the Constitution of Colorado and Colorado Revised Statutes Sections 29-1-203, 
30-11-410 and 30-15-401(2)(a), as amended. 

B. Due to the loss of its law enforcement officers, Town currently cannot adequately 
provide its own law enforcement services.

C. Town has requested Sheriff to provide law enforcement services until Town can hire 
new law enforcement officers.
 

D. Sheriff is willing to provide basic law enforcement services in response to Emergent 
Circumstances and to provide Additional Services as described below. 
 

E. Town, Sheriff and County intend to set forth in this Agreement the terms and 
conditions under which Sheriff will provide law enforcement services to Town.
 

Terms and Conditions

1. Law Enforcement Services to be Provided

Sheriff shall provide the following law enforcement services to Town:

A. Emergent Circumstances: Subject to staffing levels and other demands on Sheriff’s 
staff, Sheriff shall provide such law enforcement services as required to keep the peace within 
Town.  That is, Sheriff will respond to in-progress calls involving misdemeanors and felonies that 
constitute crimes of violence pursuant to state law and as contemplated by C.R.S. § 30-10-516.  
This subparagraph A does not require Sheriff to provide patrolling services and Sheriff’s response 
time to calls is subject to all other demands on Sheriff’s staff.
 

B. Additional Services:  During the term of this Agreement, to the extent permitted by 
staffing levels and other demands on staff, Sheriff may also provide services as requested by the 
Town Chief of Police, Interim Chief of Police, Town Administrator, or Interim Town 
Administrator. Such services shall be limited to enforcement of non-violent state law and Routt 
County Ordinances.  In no event shall Sheriff be responsible for handling complaints related to or 



otherwise enforcing Town’s ordinances. Sheriff is only willing to provide the “Additional Services” 
so long as the Town is actively pursuing efforts to hire new law enforcement officers

2. Compensation

Town shall pay County $52.00 per hour for all time spent by Sheriff while providing law 
enforcement services for Emergent Circumstance and Additional Services. Such payments shall be 
made within 30 days after Town is billed for such services by Sheriff.

3. Records and Other Fiscal Procedures

Sheriff shall maintain daily activity logs for Sheriff's personnel and Uniform Crime Reports 
in such a fashion that those records will include a separate geographical code for Town so that 
proper statistical information may be kept to account for all the activities and services performed 
within and for Town.  Sheriff shall produce and provide to Town monthly reports of the in- progress 
call responses and Additional Service provided by Sheriff on behalf of Town pursuant to this 
Agreement. The records of Sheriff and County records shall be open and available for inspection 
and audit by such persons as are authorized and designated by the Town Board to do so.  The 
inspection of Criminal Justice Records by Town representatives shall be subject to the provisions of 
C.R.S. §§ 24-72-301 to 309. 

4. Notice

A. Any notice required under this Agreement may be personally delivered or mailed in 
the United States mails, first class postage prepaid to the party to be served at the following 
addresses:

Town: Town of Oak Creek
Town Administrator
P.O. Box 128
Oak Creek, Colorado 80467

Sheriff: Routt County Sheriff
2027 Shield Drive
Steamboat Springs, Colorado 80487

County: Routt County Board of Commissioners
522 Lincoln Ave., Suite 34
Steamboat Springs, Colorado  80487

Notices personally served shall be deemed served on the date of delivery.  Notices mailed shall be 
deemed served the next business day following the date of mailing if mailed in the State of 
Colorado otherwise on the date which is two business days following the date of mailing.



B. All complaints and grievances shall be made in writing and directed to Sheriff or 
Town's Board of Trustees as appropriate.

C. Sheriff shall retain exclusive control over the hiring, deployment and dismissal of 
Sheriff personnel and equipment in accordance with his statutory authority and Sheriff's policies and 
practices.

5. Hiring of Town Law Enforcement Officers:  Town shall diligently pursue the hiring of new 
law enforcement officers.

6. Term and Termination

A. Unless earlier terminated under the other provisions of this Agreement, this 
Agreement shall terminate on December 31, 2025. This Agreement shall automatically renew 
subject to annual appropriations of the parties and the termination provision below.  

B. This Agreement may be terminated for any reason by any of the parties to it by 
giving twenty-four (24) hours’ notice in writing, delivered by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, or delivered by personal service upon the other parties. 

7. General Provisions

A. Attorney Fees:  Nothing in this Agreement shall give or allow any claim or rights 
of action whatsoever nor inure to the benefit of any third party.

B. Choice of Laws and Venue:  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the internal laws of the State of Colorado without reference to choice of laws rules.  
The parties agree that venue in any action to enforce or interpret this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court in the Fourteenth Judicial District for the State of Colorado.

C. Entire Agreement:  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 
parties concerning the provision of law enforcement services to Town by Sheriff and may not be 
amended except by a written document executed by all of the parties to it.

[Signatures on Next Page]



TOWN OF OAK CREEK

By:
Melissa Dobbins, Mayor

ATTEST:

Mary Alice Page-Allen
Interim Town Administrator/Clerk

ROUTT COUNTY SHERIFF

ROUTT COUNTY, COLORADO

By:
Chair
Board of County Commissioners

ATTEST:

Jenny L. Thomas
Routt County Clerk



COMMUNICATION FORM

 --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- -- --- --- --- -- ---  

DATE: January 23, 2025

ITEM: Selection of Professional Engineering Services Firms

ATTACHED: AquaWorks DBO Inc. Professional Services Agreement (Draft)

Zenobia Consulting Professional Services Agreement (Draft)

--- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- ----- --- --- --- ----- --- --- --- --- ---

BOARD ACTION: _X_ ACTION ITEM

____ DIRECTION REQUESTED

____ INFORMATION

--- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- ----- --- --- --- --- ---

REQUEST OR ISSUE 

A. Review and approval of Selection Committee recommendation that AquaWorks DBO, Inc. be approved to 

complete the final design and construction oversight services for the next phase or phases of the Town’s 

water distribution system and associated improvements and other water and wastewater systems work on an 

as-needed basis.

B. Approval and authorization to sign a Professional Services Agreement by and between AquaWorks DBO 

Inc. and the Town of Oak Creek for final design and construction oversight services for the next phase or 

phases of the Town’s water distribution system and associated improvements

C. Review and approval of Selection Committee recommendation that Zenobia Consultants be designated as 

Town Engineer. 

D. Approval and authorization to sign a Professional Services Agreement by and between Zenobia Consultants 

and the Town of Oak Creek for the performance of Town engineering services

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  That the Board approves 

A. The Selection Committee’s recommendation that AquaWorks DBO, Inc. be approved to complete the final 

design and construction oversight services for the next phase or phases of the Town’s water distribution 

system and associated improvements and other water and wastewater systems work on an as-needed basis.

B. Approve and authorize the signing of a Professional Services Agreement by and between AquaWorks DBO 

Inc. and the Town of Oak Creek for final design and construction oversight services for the next phase or 

phases of the Town’s water distribution system and associated improvements

C. The Selection Committee’s recommendation that Zenobia Consultants be designated as Town Engineer. 

D. Approve and authorize the signing of a Professional Services Agreement by and between Zenobia 

Consultants and the Town of Oak Creek for the performance of Town engineering services

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  A Request for Qualifications was circulated over the last month asking for 

proposals from qualified engineering firms to assist the Town with upcoming projects and on-call services.  We received 

six (6) proposals and interviewed representatives from four (4) firms.  The Selection Committee has forward a 

recommendation that AquaWorks DBO Inc. be hired to provide water and sewer systems assistance, and that Zenobia 

Consultants be hired to provide On-Call engineering services including development review, standards and 

specifications, etc.    

FISCAL IMPACTS:  Varies with the levels of service, but are expenses will be with budgeted amounts or included in 

projects funding with outside dollars.

LEGAL ISSUES:  Approval of these agreements are necessary to have a contractual understanding between the Town 

and the engineering firms.

 

CONFLICTS OR ISSUES:  None known.  

SUMMARY AND ALTERNATIVES:  Approval of the agreements will assure the provision of needed services.  



REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS

PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES

INTERVIEWED 1/14 & 1/15/2025

FIRM AquaWorks DBO Inc. Baseline Corp. Landmark Consultants Zenobia Consulting

Content of Proposal (Y/N)

Cover Letter Y Y Y Y

Overview of Firm Y Y Y Y

Overview of Capabilities Y Y Y Y

References Y Y Y Y

Additional Data Y Y Y N

Fees Y Y Y Y

Insurance Y Y Y Y

Conflict of Interest Y Y Y Y

Evaluation Criteria

Responsiveness of submittal Yes Yes Yes Yes

Competence to perform reflected by:

   Education Yes Yes Yes Yes

   Training Yes Yes Yes Yes

   Gen'l Engineering Experiece 20 years AW principal; 5 

years Eagle Cty engineer; 

Small system W&S 

specialty

Baseline:  25+ Years - OC 

Project Mgrs; Full Service 

Firm.  Element (nka 

Bowman):  W&S 11 to 16 

yrs - OC Project.  

Landmark: Survey 40+ 

years

30+ Years: Principal 

Engs; 40+ Surveyor.

16 years Steamboat City 

Eng; 2+ Principal ZC

   Specific Experience W&S Yes Yes Yes Yes

   Specific Experience Town Engineer NA Several On-Call W&S 

communities identified; 

Broad range of projects 

including land use, W&S, 

roads, buildings, GIS; 

development services

Worked for SBS as City 

Engineer 2006-2022; 

Town Engineer for 

Yampa beginning in 2023 

& Hayden in 2024

   Ability to Perform in Timely Manner as 

reflected by workload and available of 

adequate local personnel

During Evaluation Plan 

development has shown 

a very timely 

responsiveness with 

completion of work in 

less than 6 months;  Ben 

Beall with Zenobia 

available for local 

contact and Adam 

Sommers in area 

regularly with numerous 

other Routt County 

Projects including 

Steamboat Mtn School, 

Yampa, Morrison Creek 

& Hayden

Working with Mike 

Beurskens in SBS office 

on CIP for 

Comprehensive Plan; 

have worked with Chris 

Rundall, SBS office, to 

the extent he is 

representing others or in 

a small measure, 

Hayden.  Both Project 

Mgrs for WWTF from 

Front Range; Mike 

identified as local rep for 

Town Engineer; lots of 

transportation related 

work as well

Landmark currently 

Town Surveyor; Firm 

does not do Water & 

Sewer Treatment Plants

Local office; new 

company (July 2022); 

Ben is principal with a 

couple employees; 

currently local staff for 

AquaWorks; municipal 

client base includes 

Hayden and Yampa



   Past Performance on W&S Engineering for 

small systems in Colorado as reflected by 

past Clients with respect to cost control, 

quality of work, ability to meet deadlines 

and address problems

Working with RCEHD on 

Milner & Phippsburg 

WWTF; MCW&SD on 

Stagecoach; did very 

similar Telluride project 

and DOLA rep was 

familiar and indicated 

AW was compentent for 

OC system; familiarity 

with small Colorado 

systems

Most of work referenced 

are < 1.0 MGD but still 

larger than Yampa; most 

noted moving from 

lagoon to mechanical as 

proposed in PNA; 

Personal experience with 

firm confirms they do 

this

Personnally know that 

Ben has met many 

deadlines in a quality 

manner

   Overall costs Project Mgr:  $205/hr; 

Senior Eng: $205; Project 

Eng: $180

Principal: $265/hr; 

Project Mgr: $219/hr; 

PE: $197/hr; Survey 

Project Mgr: $175/hr

Principal: $250/hr; 

Project Mgr: $200/hr; 

PE: $220/hr; RLS: $220; 

Survey Project Mgr: 

$175/hr

Principal:  $165/hr; 

Project Eng: $125/hr

IRS Rate Mileage; 

Lodging, copies, etc. at 

cost

GSA mileage rate; 

reimbursables Cost + 

10%

$1/mile; $65 per diem; 

Reimbursables Cost +10-

15%

IRS mileage rate 

Reimbursables Cost + 

10%

    Notes: 4 other Routt County 

WWTF projects:  Milner, 

Phippsburg, Stagecoach, 

Steamboat Mtn School

SBS Office; working for 

Steamboat, Hayden, 

Mt.Werner Water, City 

of Craig, YVHA

SBS Office; working for 

SBS, Mt. Werner, Craig, 

Meeker; survey work for 

OC over last 11+ years 

and specifically familiar 

with W/WW projects

Small firm; Work in 

Hayden, Yampa, 

Morrison Creek

WWTF & Collection 

Only; Recommends 

Zenobia for add'l On-Call 

svcs

References mostly 

transportation projects

Understands PW/City 

engineering processes 

and needs; good 

relationships with CDOT 

from City engineering 

perspective

Prepared Evaluation Plan 

for OC; familiar with 

W/WW systems



Town of Oak Creek

129 Nancy Crawford Blvd

PO Box 128 

Oak Creek, CO 80467 

(970) 736-2422
clerk@townofoakcreek.com

AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

This AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES (“Agreement”) is made effective the 

8th day of January, 2025 between the TOWN OF OAK CREEK, a Colorado statutory municipality 

corporation ("Town"), and Norris Design (“Consultant”).

WITNESSETH:

In consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, the parties 

hereto agree as follows:

1. Scope of Agreement.  Consultant agrees to provide consulting services, as more fully 

identified in the attached exhibits, and any work orders subsequently authorized by, and 

for the Town of Oak Creek, Colorado.

2. Term and Renewal.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the date of its execution by 

both parties and shall extend for a one-year period, with the option to renew in   

additional one-year periods, unless earlier terminated pursuant to Section 12, subject to 

and conditioned upon annual budgeting by the Town for Consultant’s services pursuant 

to Section 9, below. Should the Town fail to budget for Consultant’s services in any 

budget year, then this Agreement shall not renew and shall automatically terminate. 

This Agreement may also be terminated at any time pursuant to Section 12, below.

3. Non-Exclusive.  This Agreement shall not be deemed to be an exclusive agreement.  

From time to time, the Town, at its sole discretion, may contract with firms other than 

the Consultant to provide services similar to or related to those offered by the 

Consultant. 

4. Data and Final Product.   All data that is produced and finalized by Consultant’s firm for 

this project will be transferred to Town at the end of the contract including all 

renderings, AutoCAD and GIS files, images, or any data that is finalized by Consultant for 

the Town. 

5. Status.  Consultant is an independent consultant and shall not be considered an 

employee of the Town for any purpose.

6. Standard of Care.  The standard of care applicable to Consultant’s services will be in 

accord with a manner that is consistent with the level of care and skill exercised by 

mailto:clerk@townofoakcreek.com


professionals in the same discipline practicing in Colorado. Consultant will re-perform 

any services not meeting this standard without additional compensation. 

7. Indemnity.  Consultant shall hold harmless and indemnify the Town from and against 

any damages awarded against the Town or incurred by the Town in defense of any claim 

(including reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs or expert witness fees), Consultant’s or its 

sub-consultants, and their respective officers’, employees’ and agents’ performance of 

its obligations under this Contract. 

 

8. Insurance.  Consultant and any sub-consultants shall maintain workers’ compensation, 

automotive liability, and general liability insurance coverage with at least the following 

minimum limits: General Liability - $1,000,000 per occurrence/$2,000,000 Aggregate; 

Automobile - $1,000,000 combined single limit, with a Hired & Non-owned Auto clause; 

Workers Compensation — Colorado State Statutory Limits.  Consultant shall also 

maintain professional liability insurance with coverage limits of $1,000,000 per 

occurrence/$1,000,000 Aggregate. The Town and its employees shall be named as an 

Additional Insured under the general liability policy, which shall specifically insure 

Consultant’s indemnity obligations pursuant to the preceding Section 7, above. Every 

policy required above shall be primary insurance, shall contain a waiver of subrogation 

provision against the Town and its officers, employees and agents, and any insurance 

carried by the Town, its officers, or employees, or agents shall be excess and not 

contributory insurance to that provided by the Consultant. The Additional Insured 

endorsement shall not contain exclusion for bodily injury or property damage arising 

from completed operations. The Consultant shall be solely responsible for any 

deductible losses under each of the policies required above. Certificates of insurance 

shall be completed by the Consultant’s insurance agent as evidence that policies 

providing the required coverages, conditions, and minimum limits are in full force and 

effect, and shall be subject to review and approval by the Town.  Each certificate shall 

provide that the coverages afforded under the policies shall not be canceled, terminated 

or materially changed until at least thirty (30) days prior written notice has been given 

to the Town.  If the words “endeavor to” appear in the portion of the certificate 

addressing cancellation, those words shall be stricken from the certificate by the 

agent(s) completing the certificate.  The Town reserves the right to request and receive 

a certified copy of any policy and any endorsement thereto.  Failure on the part of the 

Consultant to procure or maintain policies providing the required coverages, conditions 

and minimum limits shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement upon which the 

Town may immediately terminate the Agreement, or at its discretion may procure or 

renew any such policy or an extended reporting period thereto and may pay any and all 

premiums in connection therewith, and all monies so paid by the Town shall be repaid 

by Consultant upon demand, or the Town may offset the cost of the premiums against 

any monies due to Consultant from the Town.  The parties hereto understand and agree 

that the Town is relying on, and does not waive or intend to waive by any provision of 

this Agreement, the monetary limitations (presently $424,000 per person and 

$1,195,000 per occurrence) or any other rights immunities and protections provided by 



the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, Sections 24-10-101 et seq., C.R.S., as from 

time to time amended, or otherwise available to the Town, its officers or employees. 

9. Governmental Immunity/TABOR.  Nothing herein shall be interpreted as a waiver of 

governmental immunity, to which the Town would otherwise be entitled under § 24-10-

101, et seq., C.R.S., as amended.  This contract is also contingent upon annual budgeting 

by the Town and nothing in this contract shall be construed as a multi-year financial 

obligation of the Town.

10. Immigration Compliance.  The Consultant shall not knowingly employ or contract with 

an illegal alien to perform work under this contract nor contract with any subconsultant 

that fails to certify to the consultant that the subconsultant shall not knowingly employ 

or contract with an illegal alien to perform work under this contract. 

The Consultant has verified or attempted to verify through participation in the E-Verify 

Program that the Consultant does not employ any illegal aliens. (For the purpose of this 

paragraph, “E-Verify Program” is defined to mean the employment verification program 

created in Public Law 208, 104th Congress, as amended, and expanded in Public Law 

156, 108th Congress, as amended, that is administered by the United States Department 

of Homeland Security). If the Consultant is not accepted into the E-Verify Program prior 

to executing this contract, the Consultant shall apply to participate in the E-Verify 

Program every three months until the consultant is accepted or this contract has been 

completed, whichever is earlier. The Consultant shall not use the E-Verify Program 

procedures to undertake pre-employment screening of job applicants while this 

contract is being performed. This paragraph shall not be effective if the E-Verify 

Program is discontinued.

If the Consultant obtains actual knowledge that a subconsultant performing work under 

this contract knowingly employs or contracts with an illegal alien, the consultant shall 

notify the subconsultant and the Town within three days that the Consultant has actual 

knowledge that the subconsultant is employing or contracting with an illegal alien; and 

terminate the subcontract with the subconsultant if within three days of receiving the 

notice required pursuant to this paragraph, the subconsultant does not stop employing 

or contracting with the illegal alien. The Consultant shall not terminate the contract with 

the subconsultant if during such three days the subconsultant provides information to 

establish that the subconsultant has not knowingly employed or contracted with an 

illegal alien.

The Consultant shall also comply with any reasonable request by the Colorado 

Department of Labor and Employment made in the course of an investigation that the 

department is undertaking pursuant to C.R.S. 8-17.5-102(2).

11. Employees, Subcontractors and Assignees.  The providing of professional services 

required under Section 1 of this Agreement shall be the responsibility of Consultant.  



Consultant may employ or subcontract with additional persons to assist in the 

performance of this Agreement.  Supervision and payment of any such persons shall be 

the sole and exclusive responsibility of Consultant.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

however, this Agreement shall not be assigned by Consultant to a third party without 

the prior express written consent of the Town.

12. Termination.  At any time the Town may terminate this Agreement effective 

immediately upon the delivery of written notice to Consultant.  In the event of any such 

termination, the Town shall pay Consultant for monies owing through the date of 

termination, Consultant may terminate this Agreement if the Town fails to make any 

payments when due or otherwise fails to perform or fulfill any obligation under this 

Agreement.  In the event of any such termination, the Town shall pay Consultant for 

monies owing through the date of termination.

13. Agreement Administration and Notice.  For purposes of administering this Agreement, 

the Town Council hereby appoints the Town Administrator/Clerk to represent the Town 

in carrying out the purposes and intent of this Agreement.  Any notices required to be 

given pursuant to this Agreement shall be delivered as follows:

To the Town: Town Administrator/Clerk

Town of Oak Creek

PO Box 128

129 Nancy Crawford Blvd

Oak Creek, CO 80467

Copy to: Bob Weiss, Town Attorney 

Weiss & Van Scoyk LLP

1625 Mid Valley Dr.  Suite 1-PMB 82

Steamboat Springs, CO 80487

To the Consultant: Elena Scott, Principal

Norris Design

409 East Main Street, Suite 207

Frisco, CO  80443

14. Responsibilities.  Consultant shall be responsible for all damages to persons or property 

caused by the Consultant, its agents, employees or sub consultants, to the extent 

caused by its negligent acts, errors and omissions hereunder. 

15. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 

parties.  The provisions of this Agreement may be amended at any time by the written 

mutual consent of both parties.  The parties shall not be bound by any other 

agreements, either written or oral, except as set forth in this Agreement.



16. Governing Law.  The laws of the State of Colorado shall govern the validity, performance 

and enforcement of this Agreement.  Exclusive venue for any action instituted pursuant 

to this agreement shall lie in Routt County, Colorado.

17. Force Majeure.  Consultant shall not be responsible for any time delays caused by labor 

disputes, fire, unusual delay in deliveries, unavoidable casualties or other causes beyond 

the Consultant’s control.

18. Authority.  Each person signing this Agreement represents and warrants that said 

person is fully authorized to enter into and execute this Agreement and to bind the 

party it represents to the terms and conditions hereof.

19. Attorneys’ Fees.  Should this Agreement become the subject of litigation between the 

Town and Consultant, the substantially prevailing party shall be entitled to recovery of 

reasonable costs, expert witness fees and attorney fees incurred in connection with 

such litigation. All rights concerning remedies and/or attorneys’ fees shall survive any 

termination of this Agreement.

[Signatures follow on the next page]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have hereunto set their hands this 9th day of 

January, 2025.

 TOWN OF OAK CREEK

a Colorado statutory municipality

 By: _________________________________

ATTEST:        Melissa Dobbins, Mayor

Mary Alice Page-Allen

Interim Town Administrator/Clerk

NORRIS DESIGN

By: 

Printed Name:  

Title:  

 



Exhibit A

SCOPE OF WORK

The Scope of this Agreement for Professional Services is planned to consist of the types of tasks 

listed in the attached RFP and RFP Response from the Consultant. Specific direction will be 

provided by the Town prior to the execution of each task. Miscellaneous tasks directed by the 

Town will be performed under this Agreement on the basis of time and expenses not to exceed 

a cumulative total pre-authorized by the Town Board of Trustees. 



 1 

Request for Qualifications (RFQ) 

Town of Oak Creek, Colorado 

Professional Engineering Services 

December 1, 2024 

The Town of Oak Creek (Town) is soliciting statements of qualifications from qualified engineering firms 

that have experience and support capabilities to provide professional engineering and consulting services for 

a variety of water-and wastewater-related projects and operations, and specifically final design and 

construction oversight services for the next phase or phases of the Town’s water distribution system and 

associated improvements. 

 

Background and Objectives 
The Town is a statutory town located in south Routt County, Colorado with an elevation of approximately 

7,400 feet above sea level.  Current population is estimated at 859 people. The Town owns and operates 

water and wastewater utility enterprises that currently services approximately 450 service tap connections.  

There are several businesses located within the service area including general retail and restaurant uses along 

Main Street and a light industrial area in the Arthur Avenue area. The Town also houses the South Routt 

Middle & High Schools with an enrollment of approximately 100 students and the South Routt School 

District administrative offices. 

 

The Town’s water and wastewater facilities are comprised of water distribution and wastewater collection 

lines, a microfiltration water treatment plant designed to handle up to 1.0 MGD, a 0.25 MGD screening 

facility with bar screen, mixed bed bio-reactors and aeration, 0.408 MG of potable water storage, 986 ac-ft 

of storage rights in Sheriff Reservoir, storage capacity in Oak Creek Reservoir and various diversion 

structures and pump stations. 

 

Currently, the Town does not have the need, or the financial resources, to employ a full-time engineering 

staff.  However, periodically, the Town needs professional consulting and engineering assistance with 

planning, surveying, designing and constructing water- and wastewater-related improvements and 

consulting services involving the daily operation of the Town’s treatment plants and collection and 

distribution systems.  Specifically at this time with regard to the water and wastewater systems, the Town is 

involved in the development of: 

 

• Final design and construction oversight services for the next phase or phases of the Town’s water 

distribution system and associated improvements (Project). 

The Town completed a Water Distribution System Replacement Phasing Plan (Plan) in 2016, and a copy of 

the Plan map is attached as Exhibit A.  The Town undertook and completed the first phase along Main 

Street identified therein in 2017, and since that time has only implemented repairs in other areas.  It should 

be noted that the timing of all or part of phases may have been re-prioritized since the Plan’s initial 

development to take into account additional information or circumstances unknown at that time.  

 

The Town will be submitting a funding application to the State of Colorado, Department of Local Affairs, 

support the final design and construction oversight services of the Town’s water distribution system and 

associated improvements anticipated herein in early 2025.  The Town would like to solicit and procure the 

services of a local engineering firm or firms that is/are experienced in the services requested, and is willing 

to work on an as-needed basis subject to available funding.  The award will be made to qualified firm or 

firms through this formal RFQ competitive selection process. 

 

Scope of Services 
The Town expects the next steps in the work related to the Project will include preparing final design 

documents, assisting with funding applications including State Revolving  Fund  Loan  Application(s) and 



 2 

Energy Impact Assistance Fund program application(s); preparing  final  Plans and specifications; CDPHE 

permitting; preparation of bid documents, assistance with bid process and contractor selection; preparation 

of contract documents; funding administration; and construction oversight including contract administration 

and quality control inspections. 

 

Additionally and at the direction of the Town’s Board of Trustees, Administrator/Clerk and Public Works 

Director, the successful firm will provide specified professional services to the Town for the term of the 

agreement.  Generally, such services may include, but are not limited to: 

 

• Preparing concept reports, feasibility studies, cost estimates, proposed funding plans, and other 

written materials regarding various ongoing or contemplated Town projects. 

• Assisting in the procurement of funding for various ongoing or contemplated projects. 
• Provide professional engineering services in planning, designing and/or project management 

construction Town-related projects. 

• Advising and/or representing the Town on various matters concerning ongoing or contemplated 

developer-driven improvements. 

• Preparing specifications, detailed construction drawings, contract documents, legal surveys for 

rights-of-way and easements, and financial progress reports for ongoing or contemplated 

water/wastewater projects. 

• Reviewing new development projects such as proposed subdivisions and annexations, including 

review of construction drawings, engineering specifications, and plats related to the development. 

Inspecting infrastructure or assisting the Town with inspection services related to new development 

and performing warranty inspection walk-throughs. 

• Assisting in the solicitation, analysis, and procurement of contractors to perform construction 

and/or other services related to various ongoing or contemplated water and wastewater projects. 

• Providing on-site or off-site direction and evaluation of quality control for various Town projects, 

conducting periodic inspections, and preparation and submission of reports regarding the progress 

of various projects to, or on behalf of, the Town. 

 

All services shall be performed exclusively in the best interest of the Town, in accordance with all 

applicable professional, statutory, and regulatory standards and codes, and in the most efficient and cost-

effective manner practicable. 

 

Ownership of Work Products and Transfer of Records 

It is the intent of the Town that the firm’s work effort be conducted in a manner that maximizes the Town’s 

flexibility regarding follow-up studies or design-related efforts and other Town projects. Software programs 

that would be necessary to achieve this shall be made available to the Town. 

 

All work products, including all electronic and non-electronic records, maps, plans, notes, data files, 

drawings, studies, calculations, sketches, and other documents produced or generated on behalf of the Town 

by any individual or firm are the property of the Town and shall be provided to the Town upon completion 

and prior to final payment. 

 

All documents, reports, drawings, information (verbal or written), and other data (collectively “Proprietary 

Information”) furnished to the engineering firm by the Town shall be the sole property of the Town and 

shall not be sold, licensed, transferred, disclosed or otherwise made available to any person or firm without 

the written consent of the Town. 

 

All project deliverables shall be required to be delivered to the Town in hardcopy and electronic (original 

software and PDF) format. 
 



 3 

Required Content of Proposal 
The statement of qualifications and the performance data should include the following number of items: 

 

1. Cover Letter 

A cover letter shall be provided to explain the firm’s interest and why the Firm is uniquely 

qualified to be the selected engineering firm. The letter shall contain the name/address/phone 

number/email of the person who will serve as the engineering firm’s principal contact person 

with Oak Creek and shall identify individual(s) who will be authorized to make presentations on 

behalf of the firm. The letter shall bear the signature of a person having proper authority to 

make formal commitments on behalf of the firm. By submitting a response to this solicitation, 

the engineering firm agrees to all requirements herein. 
 

2. Overview of the Firm 

Name and location of the firm; average number of employees of the firm; the firm’s 

organization; the education, training, qualifications, licenses and role of the primary Town 

contacts; and other key members of the firm who may be assigned work under the Town 

agreement. 
 

3. Overview of Capabilities 
 

Relevant projects and experience of the firm reflecting technical capabilities, project experience 

and permitting experience in conjunction with water and wastewater improvement projects for 

communities of similar size, and addressing the scope of services. Information related to the 

firm’s design considerations and approach to project delivery should be included. 
 

4. References 

The name, organization, email and phone number of three (3) municipal clients who may be 

contacted who have worked with the proposed primary contact. 

5. Additional Data (optional) 
 

Provide any additional information that will aid in evaluation of the firm’s qualifications. 
 

6. Fees 
 

Provide a fee schedule or schedule of hourly rates for the primary contact and other key members of 

the firm that may be assigned Town work projects. A schedule for reimbursable costs should also be 

included. The Town will work with the selected firm to develop a time-and-materials basis with a 

cost- not-to-exceed without prior authorization on assigned projects. 

 

7. Insurance 
 

Proof of liability insurance and limits. 
 

8. Conflict of Interest 
 

Potential conflict of interest with other clients, if any. 
 

Proposal Submission 
Proposals must be received on or before Wednesday, January 8, 2025 at Noon (12:00 p.m.) Entities must 

allow sufficient delivery time to ensure receipt of the materials by the time and date specified. There will 

not be a public opening as there may be discussions by the Town with one or more firms after submittals 

are received. 



 4 

 

Proposals are to be addressed or emailed to:  

Mary Alice Page-Allen 

Interim Town Administrator/Clerk  

PO Box 128 

129 Nancy Crawford Blvd 
Oak Creek, CO 80467 

clerk@townofoakcreek.com 
 

Rejection of Submissions 
The Town reserves the right to reject any or all proposals, to waive informalities and irregularities in the 

proposals received, and accept any portion of any proposal if deemed in the best interest of the Town. 

 

Ownership of Materials 
All materials submitted regarding this RFQ become the property of the Town and will only be returned at 

the option of the Town.  Information submitted is subject to the Colorado Open Records Act. 

 

Incurring Cost 
The Town is not liable for any cost incurred by entities prior to executing a contract or written 

authorization. 

 

Selection Process 
Proposals will be evaluated by the Town’s Board of Trustees, Interim Town Administrator/Clerk and Public 

Works Director based on: 

 

• Responsiveness of submittal to this RFQ. 
• The competence to perform the services as reflected by education, technical training, general 

engineering experience, and specific experience in providing the services outlined herein, 

particularly water and wastewater infrastructure. 

• A demonstrated ability to perform the services in a timely manner when requested, as reflected by 

workload and availability of adequate local personnel. 

• Past performance with water and wastewater engineering services for small systems in Colorado as 

reflected by past clients with respect to such factors as cost control, quality of work, ability to meet 

deadlines and address problems. 

• Overall costs for professional services. 

 

Prior to the award of a contract and subsequent to the submission of proposals, the Town reserves the right 

to enter into negotiations or discussions with the top-rated firm(s) and will not negotiate with lower rated 

firms unless negotiations with higher rate firms have been unsuccessful and terminated. Such discussions 

in no way create a binding contract between the Town and engineering firm(s). There will be no binding 

agreement with the Town until a formal written agreement has been approved by both parties. The Town 

reserves the right to select or short-list any firm’s proposal that, in the Town’s sole opinion and discretion, 

is the most advantageous to, and in the best interests of, the Town. 

 

Proposal Deadline 
The Proposal for Professional Engineering Services must be received by Noon (12:00 p.m.), Wednesday, 

January 8, 2025 by Mary Alice Page-Allen, Interim Town Administrator/Clerk, PO Box 128, 129 Nancy 

Crawford Blvd., Oak Creek, CO 80467, clerk@townofoakcreek.com  
 

Inquiries 
Inquiries can be directed to Mary Alice Page-Allen, Interim Town Administrator/Clerk, 

clerk@townofoakcreek.com (preferred) or by phone at (970) 736-2422. Questions concerning the nature of 



 5 

the engineering services and the Town’s expectations for submittals must be submitted and received by 

Thursday, January 2, 2025 at 4:00 p.m. 

 

Selection Committee Review and Award of Contract 
Review by the Selection Committee will be on or before January 15, 2025 and the Town anticipates 

announcing the selection on January 23, 2025 to  all  firms  having  submitted  Proposals/Statements  of  

Qualifications. Alternatively, the Selection Committee may choose to “short-list” a number of engineering 

firms for interview or to request additional information. If a short-list is announced, the Town will announce 

the short-list to all firms having submitted Proposals/Statements of Qualifications and provide the schedule 

for further selection activities to the firms selected for the short-list. Oak Creek reserves the right to amend 

the schedule, as needed. 

 

Other Provisions 

 

A. Implementation Agreements: After award to specific firm(s), Oak Creek and firm will negotiate 

such implementation agreements as may be required. Failure to execute such agreements within 

sixty (60) days of award shall permit Oak Creek to revoke the award and negotiate with another firm 

that submitted a proposal for the RFQ. 

 
B. Conflict of Interest: No public official and/or Town employee shall have interest in any contract 

resulting from this RFQ. 

 

C. Cancellation of Solicitation: Any solicitation may be canceled by Oak Creek or any solicitation 

response by an engineering firm may be rejected in whole or in part when it is in the best interest of 

Oak Creek. 

 

D. Employment Discrimination: During the performance of any services per agreement with the 

engineering firm, agrees to the following conditions: 

i. The engineering firm shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 

because of race, religion, color, sex, age, disability, citizenship status, marital status, veteran 

status, sexual orientation, national origin, or any legally protected status except when such 

condition is a legitimate occupational qualification necessary for the normal operations of the 

Offeror. The Offeror agrees to post in conspicuous places, visible to employees and applicants 

for employment, notices setting forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause. 

ii. The engineering firm, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf 

of the engineering firm, shall state that such engineering firm is an Equal Opportunity Employer. 

iii. Notices, advertisements, and solicitations placed in accordance with federal law, rule, or 

regulation shall be deemed sufficient for the purpose of meeting the requirements of this section. 

 

E. Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 and Immigration Compliance: The engineering 

firm certifies that it does not and will not during the performance of the contract employ 

undocumented immigrant workers or otherwise violate the provisions of the Federal Immigration 

Reform and Control Act of 1986 and/or the immigration compliance requirements of State of 

Colorado 

i. C.R.S. § 8-17.5-101, et.seq. (House Bill 06-1343). 

 

F. Ethics: The Engineering Firm shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter any 

business arrangement with any employee, official, or agent of Oak Creek. 

 

G. Force Majeure: The engineering firm shall not be held responsible for failure to perform the duties 

and responsibilities imposed by the contract due to legal strikes, fires, riots, rebellions, and acts of 

God beyond the control of the Offeror, unless otherwise specified in the contract. 


	0 Agenda 01-23-2025.docx
	3 Consent Agenda Staff Report_0
	3a Minutes 01-09-2025_0
	3b Public Works Director 2025
	4 Sheriff Agreements Communication_0
	4a OCPD Off Duty Agreement 2025_0
	4b Oak Creek Sheriff IGA 2025_0
	5 Engineering Awards & Agreements Communication_0
	5a Engineer RFQ Evaluation 1-15-2025

